
Page 1 of 9 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5:00 p.m., February 18, 2013 
 
Commissioners present: Chairman Warren Judge, District 3 

Vice-Chairman Richard Johnson, District 1 
Virginia Tillett, District 1; Max Dutton, District 2; 
Robert Woodard, District 2; Allen Burrus, District 4; 
Jack Shea, District 5 

 
Commissioners absent None 
 
Others present:  Finance Director, David Clawson 
    Public Information Officer, Dorothy Killingsworth 

Clerk to the Board, Gary Gross 
 
Chairman Warren Judge called the February 18, 2013 meeting of the Dare County 
Board of Commissioners to order at 5:03 p.m.  He invited the Rev. Jody Moore from the 
Outer Banks Presbyterian Church to share a prayer, and then he led the Pledge of 
Allegiance to the flag.  Chairman Judge asked for a motion to amend the agenda to 
include a Closed Session pursuant to NCGS 143-318.11 to discuss a personnel matter 
and to approve the minutes of the previous Closed Session. 
MOTION 
Commissioner Shea motioned to amend the agenda to add Item 13 for a Closed 
Session pursuant to NCGS 143-318.11 to discuss a personnel matter and to approve 
the minutes of the previous Closed Session. 
Commissioner Dutton seconded the motion. 
VOTE: AYES unanimous 
 
 
ITEM 1 – PUBLIC COMMENTS 
Chairman Judge outlined the procedure for making public comments.  No one in the 
meeting room responded.  
 
 
ITEM 2 – EXPANSION OF THE CITIZENS ACTION COMMITTEE TO REPLACE THE 
BONNER BRIDGE   (Att. #1)   
The Chairman explained that the Committee is expanding its scope to include the NC 
Highway 12 Corridor and related issues.  The names of five individuals were presented 
for the Board to add to the Committee.   
 

COUNTY OF DARE, NORTH CAROLINA 

MINUTES 
DARE COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING 

Dare County Administration Building, Manteo, NC 

District 1: Roanoke Island & Mainland;  District 2: Nags Head, Colington, Kill Devil Hills;  District 3: Kitty Hawk, 
Southern Shores, Duck;  District 4: Chicamacomico, Avon, Buxton, Frisco, Hatteras;  District 5: At Large 

Meetings of the Dare County Board of Commissioners are videotaped and can be viewed at www.darenc.com



Page 2 of 9 
 

MOTION 
Commissioner Burrus motioned to add Jeffrey Delmonte, Susan Flythe, Gi-Gi Rosell, 
John Head, and Joe Thompson to the Citizens Action Committee to Replace the Bonner 
Bridge. 
Commissioner Tillett seconded the motion. 
VOTE: AYES unanimous 
 
 
ITEM 3 – REPORT FROM OREGON INLET TASK FORCE ADVISORY COMMITTEE   
Jim Tobin, Chairman of the Committee, reported that meetings have been held with the 
Oregon Inlet Users Group and portions of the Oregon Inlet Task Force Advisory 
Committee (Task Force).  He said these have included telephone conference calls in 
the effort to gather information and get consensus on a plan for stabilizing the inlet.  
Commissioner Burrus cautioned that consensus was impossible during the beach 
access Reg-Neg meetings because one side insisted that consensus had to be 
unanimous, which was not possible.  Vice-Chairman Johnson said he appreciates what 
the Committee is doing, however, it is important that Commissioner Woodard, as a 
member of the Committee, be involved and informed of everything the group does.  He 
explained that Commissioner Woodard is the person that the Board turns to for 
questions and update reports.  Mr. Tobin outlined efforts to include Commissioner 
Woodward and urged the Board to rely on the entire Committee for information.  
Commissioner Woodard said it is unacceptable for him not to be notified or included in 
telephone conference calls and cautioned that there cannot constantly be meetings 
outside of the Oregon Inlet Task Force Advisory Committee.  Commissioner Burrus 
reminded that Task Force meetings must be advertised.  Mr. Tobin said he was told if 
three or less members were involved, public notice of the meeting was not required.  
Vice-Chairman Johnson said the Task Force must follow the meeting notice rules and 
keep everyone in the Task Force informed.  Chairman Judge explained that when 
gathering information for professional services, a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) 
process must be followed.  Mr. Tobin reminded the Board that currently there is only 2.5 
feet of water at the center span of the Oregon Inlet Bridge and it is vital that the work to 
stabilize the inlet not be slowed down.  He said smaller meetings were done to get 
ahead of the State budget cycle.  He added that the group will be looking for money 
from the Board of Commissioners and from Raleigh.  Vice-Chairman Johnson said the 
Board understands the urgency of the situation and appreciates everyone’s effort in 
pushing for an Oregon Inlet solution; however, everything must be done properly.    
 
 
ITEM 4 – PRESENTATIONS BY ENGINEERING FIRMS FOR PROPOSED BEACH 
NOURISHMENT PROJECTS IN RODANTHE & BUXTON    
Chairman Judge said four engineering firms responded to the Requests for 
Qualifications (RFQ) that were published for this project.  He explained that the RFQs 
did not go to the Capital Improvements Planning Committee (CIPC) in order for the 
Board of Commissioners to hear the engineering firm’s presentations directly.  He said 
representatives from the four engineering firms are in the audience and ten minutes has 
been set aside for each one to make a presentation.  One of the engineers advised the 



Page 3 of 9 
 

Chairman that the four firms have agreed among themselves that they would prefer that 
the non-presenting groups not be in the meeting room during each presentation.  
Chairman Judge said although the Board was not requiring the firms to leave the room, 
their request to do so was acceptable.  The firms then exited the meeting room and 
were called back individually in the following order:    
 
Gahagan & Bryant Associates of NC   
Chris Gibson presented a PowerPoint outlining his firm’s qualifications and approach to 
the project.  Following the presentation Commissioner Shea said it is important that the 
use of local labor be maximized.  Vice-Chairman Johnson discussed with Mr. Gibson 
challenges in pumping sand over long distances, such as from Oregon Inlet to Buxton.  
Mr. Gibson said longer distances will require looking at other options.  Commissioner 
Burrus asked for clarification about the federal permitting process for the project.  
Commissioner Woodard and Mr. Gibson discussed the firm’s time line and cost 
estimates.  Chairman Judge asked Mr. Gibson to address the dynamics of the energy of 
the beaches in Rodanthe and Buxton.  Mr. Gibson said his firm has worked with these 
types of situations before and has dealt with Gulf Stream currents.  He noted that they 
have learned to adapt to Mother Nature, rather than fight her.   
   
Moffatt & Nichol  
Johnny Martin introduced members of his engineering team and made a PowerPoint 
presentation.  Afterward Commissioner Shea said the Board wants to maximize local 
labor on this project.  Mr. Martin said their firm could look at that for surveying and local 
staff.  Commissioner Woodward and Mr. Martin discussed the FEMA reimbursement 
process and the firm’s time and cost estimates.  In response to a question from Vice-
Chairman Johnson about sand amounts, Mr. Martin said his firm has looked at the long-
term erosion rates at Rodanthe and Buxton and discussed the impact of various grades 
of sand.  Commissioner Burrus and Mr. Martin discussed the engineering approach that 
has been done at Rudee Inlet in Virginia Beach.  Chairman Judge said skill will be 
needed in dealing with U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service and the National Park Service during 
the permitting process.  Mr. Martin described his team’s experience. 
  
RECESS:  6:29 p.m. – 6:51 p.m.  
 
Coastal Planning & Engineering of NC 
Brad Rosov presented a PowerPoint detailing his firm’s qualifications and approach.  He 
was joined in the presentation by Thomas Jarrett and Ken Willson.  Commissioner Shea 
stressed the importance of maximizing local labor on the project.  Mr. Willson explained 
that his firm is involving Quible & Associates, as a local company, to work with them on 
the project.  During discussion of diverting wave energy, Mr. Jarrett said care must be 
taken not to solve a problem in one place and create a problem somewhere else.  
Commissioner Burrus discussed with Mr. Jarrett the potential of using Oregon Inlet and 
Hatteras Inlet as sand sources, and the feasibility of getting FEMA funds to restore 
nourished beaches following a hurricane.  Mr. Jarrett explained that FEMA will not 
provide funding to maintain a beach; however, they may help restore an area following 



Page 4 of 9 
 

a federally declared emergency. Commissioner Woodard queried Mr. Willson on his 
firm’s timeline and cost estimates, which were discussed by the Board. 
 
Coastal Science & Engineering 
Timothy Kana introduced members of his team and presented a PowerPoint of the 
firm’s approach and qualifications.  He explained that they did the Nags Head beach 
nourishment project and described his company as a small, responsive firm, where the 
Board would be dealing directly with principals of the organization.  Commissioner Shea 
explained the importance of maximizing local labor and asked if sand particle size 
impacts the project’s longevity.  Mr. Kana said his firm recommends matching nourished 
grain sizes to the sands that already exist.  Commissioner Woodard queried Mr. Kana 
on his firm’s timeline and cost estimates.  The Board discussed the estimates and Mr. 
Kana explained the cost and logistical advantages of getting permits to do dredging in 
the summer as they did for the Nags Head beach nourishment project. 
 
At the conclusion of the four engineering presentations, the Board took no action and 
indicated that they will select a firm at their March 4, 2013 meeting. 
 
 
ITEM 5 – RESULTS OF THE 2013 COUNTYWIDE REVALUATION   
County Assessor, Greta Skeen, introduced members of the revaluation team including 
Mark Wilkes and Nettie Midgett.  She presented a PowerPoint that identified the diverse 
composition of the County’s property owners.  She said 42% are Dare County residents, 
28% Virginia residents, 10% from other North Carolina counties, and 20% from other 
states and foreign countries.  She outlined that there are 41,067 privately owned parcels 
and 1,873 tax-exempt parcels.  Ms. Skeen summarized that 18% of the County’s $14.7 
billion assessed value is exempt from property taxes.  She compared the 2013 tax base 
to 2012 and said the total change in value reflects a 29% decrease.  She provided 
details for various areas of the County and described the types of properties that make 
up the tax base and gave a breakdown by land types.  The Assessor presented a 
detailed statistical analysis of all property types and classes including the average sales 
price, median assessed to sale ratio, and the coefficient of dispersion.  She explained 
that the new Revenue Neutral Rate to generate $49,033,025 is $0.41 cents.  Finance 
Director, David Clawson, assisted in providing clarification of the Revenue Neutral Rate.  
Ms. Skeen outlined the impact that the new rate would have on sample properties 
throughout the County.  Mr. Wilkes explained the next phase of the revaluation process 
where notices will be sent to property owners.  He gave a comprehensive review of 
each part of the 2013 revaluation notice form.  The revaluation team gave a detailed 
description of how property owners can make an appeal.  They also answered Board 
questions about the determining factors in establishing the assessment values.        
 
 
ITEM 6 – MOTOR VEHICLE INCIDENTS – ACCIDENT REVIEW POLICY (Att. #2) 
Sandy West, Risk Manager, presented a policy outlining a thorough investigation 
process when a County vehicle is involved in an accident.  She reviewed the policy and 
asked that it be added to the Dare County Personnel Policy. 



Page 5 of 9 
 

MOTION 
Commissioner Burrus motioned to approve that the Accident Review Policy and that it 
be added to the Dare County Personnel Policy. 
Commissioner Shea seconded the motion. 
VOTE: AYES unanimous 
 
 
ITEM 7 – AMENDMENT TO CAPITAL PROJECT ORDINANCE FOR 2008 
INSTALLMENT FINANCING PROJECT – RODANTHE LAND   (Att. #3) 
David Clawson, Finance Director, said the Capital Project Ordinance is an amendment 
to an existing one related to beach access improvements to County owned property in 
Rodanthe.  He said it creates an account for improvements, separate from the land 
acquisition account, and transfers related debt proceeds to balance the project budget. 
MOTION 
Commissioner Burrus motioned to adopt the amendment to the Capital Project 
Ordinance. 
Commissioner Dutton and Commissioner Woodard seconded the motion. 
VOTE: AYES unanimous 
 
 
ITEM 8 – BUDGET AMENDMENT FOR SALE OF SERIES 2013 REFUNDING 
LIMITED OBLIGATION BONDS   (Att. #4) 
Finance Director, David Clawson, presented a Budget Amendment for the Series 2013 
Refunding of Limited Obligation Bonds (LOBs).    He said the amendment uses 
estimates that were run on February 8, 2013 and will be adjusted after the final sale, 
which is scheduled for March 27, 2013.  Mr. Clawson said savings are projected to be 
$2.8 million and provided a breakdown on the savings for each fiscal year. 
MOTION 
Commissioner Burrus motioned to adopt the Budget Amendment for the sale of Series 
2013 Refunding Limited Obligation Bonds (LOBs).   
Commissioner Dutton and Commissioner Woodard seconded the motion. 
VOTE: AYES unanimous 
 
 
ITEM 9 – AWARD OF FY2012-2013 VEHICLE & EQUIPMENT FINANCING  (Att. #5) 
Mr. Clawson said proposals were received from four banking institutions and the lowest 
cost bid was from SunTrust Equipment Finance & Leasing Corporation with an interest 
rate of 1.165% for 36 months.  He presented a Resolution for the Board to adopt and 
requested authorization to have staff execute all necessary documents. 
MOTION 
Commissioner Burrus motioned to adopt the Resolution awarding the financing to 
SunTrust Equipment Finance and Leasing Corporation at an interest rate of 1.165% for 
36 months, and to authorize the County Manager, Finance Director, and Clerk to 
execute all necessary documents. 
Commissioner Dutton and Commissioner Shea seconded the motion. 
VOTE: AYES unanimous 



Page 6 of 9 
 

ITEM 10 – COMMISSIONER COMMITTEE AND BOARD REPORTS    
Each Commissioner was asked to report on their Committee and Board activities.  
 
Commissioner Dutton 

 He said an East Carolina Behavioral Health (ECBH) meeting is coming up and 
will report back afterward.   

 He explained that the Community Development Corporation (CDC) has a new 
webpage and he has received a positive report about help the CDC provided.   

 Commissioner Dutton reported on the Outer Banks Safety Coalition in their 
mission to help facilitate bicycle and pedestrian safety in a proactive way.  He 
thanked Dare County Public Relations for their involvement and said the Safety 
Coalition has teamed with NCDOT.  He announced that video and radio 
messages will be done in an effort to publicize the group’s message.  He 
expressed thanks to everyone involved with the Safety Coalition.  

 
Commissioner Tillett 

 She said the Cooperative Extension Service invites the Board to stop by to see 
the new flooring at their Manteo facility, which includes the office where drivers’ 
licenses are obtained.   

 She added that the Cooperative Extension Service is working with the Dare 
County Center to identify and label indigenous plants along the Roanoke Island 
Wellness Trail.  She added that this project is coming along nicely. 

 Commissioner Tillett announced that Older Adult Services will be celebrating the 
25th anniversary of the Senior Games, which begin April 15, 2013.  

 She explained that the Juvenile Crime Prevention Council (JCPC) has funds 
available for organizations that provide services for at risk youth and encouraged 
people to contact Bonnie Bennett. 

 
Commissioner Burrus 

 He reported that the Citizens Action Committee to Replace the Bonner Bridge, 
which added new members tonight, has met in their expanded mission to include 
the NC Highway 12 Corridor.   

 He explained that work is proceeding on the Hatteras Inlet Channel and he 
thanked Chairman Judge, Vice-Chairman Johnson, County Manager Outten, the 
Army Corps of Engineers, and Senator Hagan’s office for their efforts. 

 
Commissioner Shea 

 He said he attended a Grants Committee meeting for the Tourism Board where 
they reviewed funding requests from several local groups.  Commissioner Shea 
said the Committee will be making a recommendation to the Tourism Board. 

 
Vice-Chairman Johnson 

 He reported on efforts that are underway to get water service for the mobile 
home park that the Airport Authority purchased.  He said they also are attempting 
to get fencing installed at the cemetery. 



Page 7 of 9 
 

 Vice-Chairman Johnson announced that the Oregon Inlet Waterways 
Commission will meet tomorrow evening. 

 
Commissioner Woodard 

 He said an Albemarle Commission Board meeting will be held this week.   
 Commissioner Woodard gave kudos to Jay Burrus at Social Services for the 

assistance he provided to a veteran with limited income who had a special 
transportation need.  He said Mr. Burrus resolved the problem quickly and the 
veteran was extremely grateful.   

 
Chairman Judge 

 He said the Roanoke Island Corridor Commission has had a couple of meetings 
and they are trying to deal with the State Legislature giving control of the corridor 
portion in Manteo, to the town of Manteo; and the corridor portion in 
unincorporated Dare, to the County.   

 Chairman Judge added that the Finance Committee is working to address 
substantial state funding cuts for the Roanoke Island Festival Park budget.  He 
said they are trying to find programs and ways to make up the shortfall.   

 He thanked the Manns Harbor community, North Carolina Wildlife, commercial 
fishermen, and the Coastal Federation in their effort to create a governing board 
of commercial fishermen to write the rules for the operation of the working 
waterfront in Manns Harbor.  He said this will be a unique state facility.   

 The Chairman announced the Summit being hosted this week by Outer Banks 
Catch and highlighted some of the planned activities, events, and participants. 

 He updated the Board on the work of the Children and Youth Partnership and 
credited Loretta Michael and her team for the great job they have done raising 
the level of childcare in Dare County.  He commended the staffs of local day care 
centers for their participation in continuing education programs.   

 
 
ITEM 11 – CONSENT AGENDA   (Att. #6) 
Chairman Judge presented the Consent Agenda.   
MOTION 
Commissioner Shea motioned to approve the Consent Agenda: 

1) Approval of Minutes (02.04.13) 
2) Dare County 4-H and Youth Foundation to Provide Funds for Repair and 

Maintenance of 4-H Vans 
3) Transportation Department Application for Outer Banks Hospital Development 

Council Grant 
4) Budget Amendment – Parks & Recreation Group Activity – Fessenden Center 
5) Semi-Annual Combined Tennis Tournament 
6) Tax Collectors January 2013 Reports  

Commissioner Dutton seconded the motion.  
VOTE: AYES unanimous 
 
 



Page 8 of 9 
 

ITEM 12 – COMMISSIONERS’ BUSINESS 
 
Commissioner Tillett 

 She commented on a letter the Board received from people involved in the Parks 
& Recreation Billiard Tournament.  She asked Board Members to read the letter 
and said she will talk with the County Manager about their request to alternate 
the site of the Billiard Tournament between the Dare County Center and the 
Baum Center.  Chairman Judge said that should be easy to work out and agreed 
that she turn it over to County Manager Outten. 

 Commissioner Tillett said she has received an inquiry about who does the 
inspection of septic systems for homes getting federal housing loans.  Chairman 
Judge indicated that would be under the purview of the Health Department. 

 
Commissioner Burrus – None  
 
Commissioner Shea – None 
 
Vice-Chairman Johnson 

 He said he hopes that he did not anger those on the Oregon Inlet Task Force 
Advisory Committee earlier this evening in cautioning them to keep everything on 
the proper track.  He said the work they are doing is very important to Dare 
County and he does not want anything to happen that could hurt their credibility.  

 
Commissioner Woodard – None 
 
Commissioner Dutton – None 
 
Chairman Judge  

 He explained that previously the Board accepted a bid from Carolina Marine 
Structures, pending NCDOT concurrence, for construction of sidewalks in 
Rodanthe, Waves, and Salvo.  He reported that the County was notified on 
February 13, 2013 that Carolina Marine Structures was rejected by NCDOT 
because they did not meet their DBE minority business goals.  The Chairman 
said a second Resolution has been prepared to award the next lowest bidder 
who met the goals, which is Hatchell Concrete.  He added that this award is 
contingent upon NCDOT’s approval of Hatchell, and upon resolution of the 
Carolina Marine Structures appeal process, if they elect to appeal. 
MOTION   (Att. #7) 
Commissioner Burrus motioned to adopt the second Resolution awarding the 
construction contract for the sidewalk project in Rodanthe, Waves, and Salvo to 
Hatchell Concrete pending lapse of appeal period or conclusion of appeal and 
pending NCDOT concurrence. 
Commissioner Dutton and Commissioner Shea seconded the motion. 
VOTE: AYES unanimous 

 
 




